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~ DECI SI ON

JAEGER, Menber: This case is before the Public Enpl oynent
Rel ati ons Board (PERB or Board) on exceptions filed by the
North Sacranento School District (D strict) to the attached
proposed decision. The District excepts to the hearing
officer's finding that it violated subsections 3543.5(a), (b)
and (c) of the Educational Enploynent Relations Act (EERA or
Act) by retaliating against Kent Gaughenbaugh for filing a
grievance pursuant to a negotiated grievance procedure. The
hearing officer dismssed a further allegation that the

District violated subsection 3543.5(d).|

The EERA is codified at Governnment Code section 3540



The Board has reviewed the hearing officer's findings of
fact and, finding themfree fromprejudicial error, adopts them
as the findings of the Board itself. W affirmthe hearing
officer's conclusions of law in part and reverse themin part
in accordance with the discussion bel ow.

DI SCUSSI ON

The hearing officer found that the Dstrict retaliated

agai nst Kent Gaughenbaugh because of the exercise of rights

et seq. Al references are to the Governnment Code unless
ot herwi sei ndi cat ed.

Section 3543.5 provides in relevant part:

It shall be unlawful for a public schoo
enpl oyer to:

(a) Inpose or threaten to inpose reprisals
on enpl oyees, to discrimnate or threaten to
di scri m nate agai nst enpl oyees, or otherw se
to interfere with, restrain, or coerce

enpl oyees because of their exercise of

rights guaranteed by this chapter.

(b) Deny to enployee organi zations rights
guaranteed to them by this chapter.

(c) Refuse or fail to neet and negotiate in
good faith with an exclusive representative.

(d) Domnate or interfere with the
formation or adm nistration of any enpl oyee
organi zation, or contribute financial or

ot her support to it, or in any way encourage
enpl oyees to join any organization in
preference to anot her.

The dism ssal of that portion of the charge alleging a

vi ol ati on of subsection 3543.5(d) was not excepted to by the
North Sacranento Educati on Associ ation, CTA/ NEA (Association)
and is thus not before the Board.



protected by the Act. The District excepts to this finding,
argui ng that Gaughenbaugh's conduct was not protected by the
Act and that, even if it was protected, the Association failed
to prove that the District retaliated agai nst Gaughenbaugh
because he engaged in that conduct. |In addition, the District
contends that the hearing officer m sapplied rel evant Board
precedent in reaching his conclusion that it violated the Act.
Finally, the District excepts to several of the hearing
officer's evidentiary rulings.

The Protected Nature of Gaughenbaugh's Conduct

The District contends that the hearing officer erred in
finding that filing a grievance pursuant to a negoti ated
grievance procedure is a protected activity under section 3543

of the Act.? It argues that the language in the second

2Section 3543 provides:

Public school employees shall have the right
to form, join, axd participate in the
activities of employee organizations of
their omn choosing for the purpose of
representation on all matters of
employer-employee relations. Public school
emnployees shall also have the right to
refuse to join or participate in the
activities of employee organizations ad
shall have the right to represent themselves
individually in their employmet relations
with the public school employer, except that
once the employees in an appropriate unit
have selected an exclusive representative
ad it has been recognized pursuant to
Section 3544.1 or certified pursuant to
Section 3544.7, no employee in that unit mey



par agraph of section 3543 guaranteei ng enpl oyees "the right to
present grievances . . . and have such grievances adjusted

should be treated as equivalent to simlar |anguage in

section 9(a) of the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA).3

meet and negotiate with the public schoo
enpl oyer.

Any enpl oyee nmay at any tine present
grievances to his enployer, and have such
gri evances adjusted, wthout the

i ntervention of the exclusive
representative, as long as the adjustnent is
reached prior to arbitration pursuant to
Sections 3548.5, 3548.6, 3548.7, and 3548.8
and the adjustnent is not inconsistent with
the terns of a witten agreenent then in
effect; provided that the public schoo

enpl oyer shall not agree to a resolution of
the grievance until the exclusive
representative has received a copy of the
grievance and the proposed resolution and
has been given the opportunity to file a
response.

The NLRA is codified at 29 USC section 151 et seq.
Section 9(a) of the NLRA states in relevant part:

Representatives designated or selected for
the purposes of collective bargaining by the
maj ority of the enployees in a unit
appropriate for such purposes, shall be the
excl usive representatives of all the
enpl oyees in such unit for the purposes of
collective bargaining in respect to rates of
pay, wages, hours of enploynent, or other
conditions of enploynent: Provided, That
any individual enployee or a group of
enpl oyees shall have the right at any tine

- to present grievances to their enployer and
to have such grievances adjusted, w thout
the intervention of the bargaining
representative, as long as the adjustnent is
not inconsistent with the terns of a



Since that section has been held by the National Labor
Relations Boad (\LRB) and the federal courts to create only an
affirmative defense to a refusal to bargain charge, and not a
protected right to present grievances or have themn adjusted,*
the District argues that the parallel provision of HERA should
be interpreted in a similarly narrow manner. While the
District concedes that the NLFRB has consistently held that it
is protected conduct for an employee to file a grievance
pursuant to a negotiated grievance procedure, it argues that
that right is derived from the "concerted activities" language
in section 7 of the NLRA, which, it maintains, has no

equivalent in BEERA>

collective-bargaining contract or agreement
then in effect: Provided further, That the
bargaining representative has been given
opportunity to be present at such adjustment.

It is appropriate for the Boad to take guidance from
federal labor lawv precedent when applicable to public sector
labor relations issues. Firefighters Union, Loca 1186 v. Cityy
of Vallejo (1974) 12 Cal.3 17 .Rptr. 507];

Los Angeles Service Commision v. Superior Court (1978) 23
Cal.3d %5 [151 Cal.Rptr. 547].

4see Black-Clawson Co. v. Machinists (1962) 313 F.2d 179
[52 LR 2038]; cited with approva in Emporium-Capwell v.
Western Addition Community Organization (1975) 420 U.S. 50 [88
LHRM 2660].

°Section 7 of the NLRA provides:

Employees shall have the right to
self-organization, to form, join, or assist
labor organizations, to bargain collectively
through representatives of their omn



The thrust of the District's argument is misplaced. The

first paragraph of section 3543 guarantees employees the right

to "form, join, and participate in the activities of employee
organizations . . . " (Emphads added.) An embloyee‘s attempt
to assert rights established by the terms of a negotiated
agreement clearly constitutes "participation” in the activities
of an employee organization ad is, therefore, expressly
protected by section 343 of the Act. Waeae this not the case,
an employer could freely retaliate against employees because of
their assertion of contractual rights, thereby effectively
undermining the collective negotiation process.

Ou decision in this regard is consistent with past Boad
decisions concerning the rights of employee organizations to

represent employees in grievance procedures. In Mout Diablo

Unified School District et a (12/30/77) HEHB Decision No. 44,

the Boad held that the grievance process is an "employment
relation” within the meaning of subsection 3543.1 (&) ad that,
therefore, employee organizations have a statutory right to

represent employees in the presentation of their

choosing, and to engage in other concerted
activities for the purpose of collective
bargaining or other mutual aid or
protection, and shall also have the right to
refrain from awy or all of such activities
except to the extent that such right maey be
affected by an agreement requiring
membership in a labor organization as a
condition of employmat as authorized in
section 8 (@ (3 .



grievances.® In accord, Santa Mnica Conmunity Col | ege

District (9/21/79) PERB Decision No. 103; Victor Valley Joint

Uni on Hi gh School District (12/31/81) PERB Decision No. 192.

As the hearing officer pointed out, it would be anomal ous to

guar ant ee enpl oyee organi zations the right to represent

enpl oyees in the grievance process while failing to guarantee
enpl oyees the concomtant right to participate in the very sane
grievance process free from fear of discrimnation or

reprisal.’

M sapplicati on of Board Precedent

The District argues that the record fails to support the

hearing officer's conclusion that it unlawfully retaliated

6Subsection 3543.1 (a) provides:

Employee organizations shall have the right
to represent their mambas in their
anploymat relations with public school
employers, except that once an employee
organization is recognized or certified as
the exclusive representative of an
appropriate unit pursuant to Section 3544.1
or 3544.7, respectively, only that employee
organization nmey represent that unit in
their employmatt relations with the public
school employer. Employee organizations ney
establish reasonable restrictions regarding
W nmey join and mey meke reasonable
provisions for the dismissal of individuals
from membership.

7since we base our finding that participation in a
negotiated grievance procedure is protected by the language
contained in the first paragraph of section 3543, we need not
address the District's contention that the second paragraph of
section 343 does not establish such rights.



against Gaughenbaugh because of his participation in the
negotiated grievance procedure. In addition, it argues that
the hearing officer applied relevant Boad precedent
incorrectly in resolving the charge before him.

The hearing officer based his determination that the
District violated subsection 3543.5(a) on the test for |
resolving unfair practice charges enunciated by the Boad in

Carlsbad Unified School District (1/30/79) HEFB Decision

No. 89. in Novao Unified School District (4/30/82) HEFRB

Decision No. 210, which wes decided subsequent to the hearing
officer's proposed decision, the Boad clarified the test set

forth in Carlsbad, supra. Unde the Novao test, where an

unfair practice charge alleges that an employer discriminated
or retaliated against an employee for participation in
protected activity, the charging party has the initial burden
of establishing that the employee's protected conduct wes a
motivating factor in the employer's decision to discipline the
employee. Since motivation is a state of mind which is often
difficult to prove by'direct evidence, a charging party ney
establish unlawful motivation by inference from the entire

record. Carlsbad, supra; accord Republic Aviation Corp. (1945)

324 U.S 793 [16 LHRM 620]. If the charging party mekes such a
showing, then the burden of proof shifts to the employer to
demonstrate that it would have taken the same action in the

absence of the employee's protected activity. (Wright Line, A




Division of Wight Line, Inc. (1980) 251 NLRB 1083 [105 LRRM
1169] .)

Anal yzed under the Novato test, the record fully supports
the hearing officer's determnation that the D strict
retaliated agai nst Gaughenbaugh because of the exercise of
rights protected by the Act. Thus, the evidence indicates that
al t hough Gaughenbaugh had never been reprimanded by Sybil Brown
during the five years that he had been under her supervision,
he was repeatedly reprinmanded by her in the nonths inmmedi ately
after he filed his grievance. These reprimands closely
followed Brown's threat that, because Gaughenbaugh had filed a
grievance, she would "never give [hin] a good evaluation" and
her direction to Mchael Contreras that he "docunent”
Gaughenbaugh. A clear inference of unlawful notivation is
rai sed when an enployee with a previously good work record is
repeatedly reprinmanded or threatened with reprisal follow ng
his or her participation in protected activity. NLRB v.

General Warehouse Corp. (3rd Cir., 1981) 643 F.2d 965 [106 LRRM

2799]; Wight Line, supra.

In addition, the evidence fully supports the hearing
officer's findings that Brown issued these reprinmands to
Gaughenbaugh for engaging in conduct for which enployees had
not previously been disciplined and that she failed to make any
meani ngful investigation before inposing that discipline. Both
di sparate treatnent of enployees and cursory investigation of
al l eged m sconduct prior to the inposition of discipline

9



have long been held to raise an inference of unlawful

motivation. San Joaquin Delta Community College District

(11/30/82) HEHRB Decision No. 261; Marin Community College

District (11/19/80) HHB Decision No. 145; Wright Line, supra;
Firestone Textile Compay (1973) 203 NLRB 89; Shell Oil Co. v.
NRB (5th Cir., 1942) 128 F.2d 206 [10 LFRRM 670]. Moreover, as

the hearing officer pointed out, the District's pattern of
obstructionist conduct with regard to Gaughenbaugh's grievance
evidenced an intent to interfere with his contractual rights.

Marin, supra; Caterpillar Tractor Co. v. NLRB (9th Cir., 1981)

638 F.2d 140 [106 LHRM 2853]. In sum, we find that there was
more than sufficient evidence to establish a prima facie

violation of subsection 3543. 5 (a).

In the face of this evidence, the District failed to prove
that it would have disciplined Gaughenbaugh in the absence of
his protected activity. As the hearing officer found, the
District's operational necessity argument, upon close scrutiny,
simply "evaporates." Accordingly, we affirm the hearing
officer's finding of a violation of subsection 3543.5(a) and,

derivatively, subsection 3543.5(b). San Francisco Community

College District (10/12/79) HHB Decision No. 105.

Evidentiary Exceptions

The District's evidentiary exceptions are two-fold. First,

it contends that the hearing officer admitted evidence

10



concerning an issue not encompassed by the charge and based his
decision, in part, on that evidence. Second, it contends that

the hearing officer erroneously admitted hearsay evidence. We

reject the District's arguments.

The District argues that it was erroneous for the hearing
officer to rely on evidence of its allegedly obstructionist
conduct in the processing of Gaughenbaugh's grievance when that
portion of the Association's original charge alleging
intentional anrd arbitrary obstruction of the grievance process
had been dismissed.

As the hearing officer pointed out, his purpose in using
this evidence was not to determine whether the District's
denial of Gaughenbaugh's grievance constituted an independent
violation of the Act, but rather to ascertain whether that
conduct evidenced a retaliatory motive towards Gaughenbaugh.
We see no reason wy the same conduct ney not be relevant to
the resolution of indegpendent charges. The hearing officer
drew an inference of unlawful motivation from Brown's rejection
of Gaughenbaugh's grievance on the pretextual grounds that he
used an "incorrect form." He drev a similar inference from the
District's steadfast refusal to consider Gaughenbaugh's
repeated discuséions with Brom as completing the informa step
in the contractual grievance procedure. In both instances, the
inferences which the hearing officer drenvw were relevant to the

charge at hand. That the same evidence might also have been

11



relevant to a charge not before the hearing officer does not
render that evidence any |less probative in the resolution of
the charge before him

The District's second evidentiary exception arises out of
its contention that the hearing officer inproperly considered
hearsay evidence. The District focuses on two statenents
relied upon by the hearing officer: first, a statenment nmade by
Sybil Brown to Kent Gaughenbaugh, in which she stated that she
"woul d never give [Gughenbaugh] a good eval uation" as a result
of his filing of a formal grievance; and second, a statenent by
M chael Contreras that Brown had ordered himto "docunent"
Gaughenbaugh' s "behavior." The District argues that neither of
these statenents is adm ssible over hearsay objection. The
District's exception is unfounded.

Former PERB rule 32176 (a)® governed the adnissibility of
hearsay evidence in unfair practice hearings at the tine of the
hearing in this case. That rule provided:

Conmpliance with the technical rules of

evi dence applied in the courts shall not be
required. Oal evidence shall be taken only
on oath or affirmation. Hearsay evidence
may be used for the purpose of supplenenting
or explaining other evidence but shall not

be sufficient in itself to support a finding
unless it would be adm ssible over objection

8PERB regul ations are codified at title 8, California
Adm ni strative Code, section 31000 et seq.

On Septenber 20, 1982, subsequent to the hearing in this
case, PERB rule 32176(a) was replaced by PERB rule 32176.

12



incivil actions. Inmmterial, irrelevant,

unreliable, unduly repetitious evidence, or

evidence of little probative value may be

excluded. The rules of privilege shal

apply. Evidence of offers of settlenent

shal |l be inadm ssible.

Fornmer PERB rule 32176(a) expressly provided that hearsay

statenments were adm ssible so long as they were not, by
t hensel ves, the basis of a finding. Both of these statenents
were offered as evidence of Brown's unlawful aninus. Since
Brown' s ani nus was corroborated by other evidence of unlaw ul
notivation, the statenents objected to by the District were
adm ssible even if hearsay not within any exception

Subsection 3543.5(c) Violation

The hearing officer found, in addition to violations of
subsections 3543.5(a) and (b), that retaliation against an
~enployee for participation in the contractual grievance process
constituted "interference in the day-to-day operation of a
collective agreenent,” and was thus also a violation of
subsection 3543.5(c). W disagree. There was insufficient
evidence to establish that this isolated act of retaliation
agai nst an individual enployee constituted an unl awf ul
unilateral change in established policy or a repudiation of

contractual obligations. Gant Joint Union H gh Schoo

District (2/26/82) PERB Decision No. 196. Accordingly, we
reverse that portion of the hearing officer's proposed decision

finding a violation of subsection 3543.5(c).

13



ORDER

Upon the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of |aw,
and the entire record in the case, it is hereby ORDERED t hat
the North Sacramento School District, its governing board and
its representatives shall

1. CEASE AND DESI ST FROM

(a) Inposing or threatening to inpose reprisals on

Kent Gaughenbaugh for filing a grievance under a collective
bargai ning agreement negotiated by the Association and the
District.

| (b) Denying the right of North Sacramento Teachers
Associ ation, CTA/NEA, to represent unit menbers by retaliating
agai nst Kent Gaughenbaugh for filing a grievance under a
col lective bargaining agreement negotiated by the Association.

2.  TAKE THE FOLLOW NG AFFI RMATI VE ACTI ONS DESI GNED TO
EFFECTUATE THE POLI CI ES OF THE ACT.

(a) Immediately renmove and destroy all menmos sent by
District representatives to Kent Gaughenbaugh referred to in
the attached statements of facts from Gaughenbaugh's official
personnel file, as well as fromthe file kept on Gaughenbaugh
by Sybil Brown.

(b) Wthin five (5 workdays after service of this
deci sion, prepare and post copies of the Notice To Enpl oyees
attached as an appendix hereto, for at least thirty (30)

wor kdays at its headquarters offices and in conspicuous places

14



at the |locations where notices to certificated enpl oyees are
customarily posted. It nust not be reduced in size and
reasonabl e steps should be taken to see that it is not defaced,
altered or covered by any material.

(c) Wthin twenty (20) workdays from service of the
final decision herein, give witten notification to the
SaCrénento regional director of the Public Enploynment
"Rel ations Board of the actions taken to comply with this
Order. Continue to report in witing to the regional director
thereafter as directed. Al reports to the regional director
shall be concurrently served on the charging party herein.

That part of the Association's charge alleging violations

of subsections 3543.5(c) and (d) is hereby DI SM SSED

Chai rperson d uck and Menber Mrgenstern joined in this
Deci si on.

15



APPENDI X

NOTI CE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
PUBLI C EMPLOYMENT RELATI ONS BOARD
An Agency of the State of California

After a hearing in Unfair Practice Case No. S-CE-381, in
which all parties had the right to participate, it has been
found that the District violated the Educational Enploynent
Rel ations Act by unlawfully reprimandi ng Kent Gaughenbaugh for
participation in the negotiated grievance procedure.

As a result of this conduct, we have been ordered to post
this Notice, and will abide by the following. W wll:

1. CEASE AND DESIST FROM:

(a) Reprimandi ng enpl oyees for filing grievances
pursuant to the negotiated grievance procedure.

(b) Denying the right of North Sacramento Teachers
Associ ation, CTA/NEA, to represent unit menmbers by reprimnding
enpl oyees for filing grievances pursuant to the negoti ated
grievance procedure.

2. TAKE THE FOLLOWING ACTIONS:

(@ Immediately remove and destroy all memoranda sent
by District representatives to Kent Gaughenbaugh from his
official personnel file and from the file kept by Sybil Browmn
relating to his unlawful reprimand.

Dated: NORTH SACRAMENTO SCHOOL DISTRICT

By

Authorized Agent

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE. IT MUST REMAIN POSTED FOR AT LEAST
THIRTY (30) CONSECUTIVE WORKDAYS FROM THE DATE OF POSTING AND
MUST NOT BE REDUCED IN SIZE, DEFACED, ALTERED OR COVERED BY ANY
MATERIAL.



STATE OF CALI FORNI A
PUBLI C EMPLOYMENT RELATI ONS BQARD

NORTH SACRAMENTO EDUCATI ON
ASSCCI ATI ON, CTA/ NEA,
Charging Party, Unfair Practice Charge

Case No. S-CE-381
V.

NORTH SACRAMENTO SCHOOL DI STRI CT, PROPCSED DECI SI ON

Respondent . (8/24/81)
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Appear ances; D ane Ross, for charging party North Sacranento
Education Associ ation, CTA/NEA, Christian Reiner, for respondent
North Sacranmento School District.

Before; Fred D Orazio, Hearing Oficer.

PROCEDURAL HI STORY

On Decenber 8; 1980, the North Sacramento Education
Associ ation (hereafter Association, NSEA or Charging Party)
filed an unfair practice charge against the North Sacranento
School District (hereafter District or Respondent), alleging a
violation of section 3543.5(a), (b) and (c) of the Educati onal
Enpl oyment Rel ations Act (hereafter EERA or Act).! The

substance of the charge is that the District refused to

The EERA is codified at Governnment Code section 3540 et
seq. All references hereafter are to the Governnent Code
unl ess ot herwi se noted.



participate in the negotiated grievance procedure and that such
refusal constitutes interference with rights guaranteed both
enpl oyees and enpl oyee organi zations under the EERA

The District filed an answer on Decenber 23, 1980 wherein
it denied violating the Act. As an affirmative defense, the
District asserted that the charge represents only a contract
di spute over which the Public Enploynent Rel ati ons Board
(hereafter PERB or Board) has no jurisdiction.

On Decenber 30, 1980, NSEA anended the charge to allege
that the District had also retaliated against a grievant for use
of the contractual grievance procedure. The anendnent i ncluded
the allegation that section 3543.5(d) had been viol at ed.

On January 8, 1981 an informal conference was held which did
not resolve the issues.

The District filed an answer denying the allegations in the
amended charge and noved to dism ss on January 19, 1981. The
basis of the notion to dismss was two-fold. First, the
District argued that the charge involves only a contract
di spute and PERB has no jurisdiction to enforce contracts.
Second, the District argued that the charge does not allege a
nexus between the District's action and a protected right. The
basis for the second argunent is that filing a grievance is not
activity protected by the Act. The Association filed a witten

opposition to the notion.



On February 10, 1981, Hearing Oficer Ronald E. Bl ubaugh
granted the District's notion to dismss as to that portion of
the charge filed on Decenber 8.2 The notion to dismss the
Decenber 30 anendnent to the charge was deni ed.

| A hearing was conducted before the undersigned hearing
officer on March 20, 1981. The briefing schedule was conpl et ed
on June 9, 1981, and the case was submtted.

FINDINGS OF FACT

The parties stipulated that at all relevant times NSEA was
the exclusive representative of certificated enployees within
the neaning of the EERA. The parties further stipulated that
the District is a public school enployer within the nmeaning of
t he EERA.

Kent Gaughenbaugh, has been a teacher in the District for
approximately six years. At the tinme of the incidents which |ed
to the filing of the charge Gaughenbaugh was working at the Ben
Ali Children's Center (hereafter Ben Ali or the Center) and had

2Hearing O ficer Blubaugh dismssed the charge filed on
Decenber 8 on the authority of Baldw n_Park Unified School
District (4/4/79) PERB Decision No. 92. Blubaugh held that the
question of whether or not the District followed the steps in
the contractual grievance procedure only presents an issue of
contractual interpretation and does not rest upon an independent
viol ation of EERA. The decision to dismss the Decenber 8
charge was not appealed by the Charging Party and is not at
issue here. Thus, the only issues here are whether filing a
grievance is protected under the Act and, if so, was there
retaliation for exercising this right.




been for several years.® During that time Sybil Brown was
the program manager at Ben Ali.

On May 9, 1980, Sybil Brown delivered a witten eval uation
t o Gaughenbaugh covering his performance over the previous two
years. Gaughenbaugh, who was unhappy with the eval uati on, had
approximately one week to conment on it before it was filed in
his official personnel file. On the same day he received the
evaluation he nmet infornmally with Brown in an unsuccessfu
attenpt to resolve his objection. After a brief discussion, he
signed off on the evaluation form and |eft Brown's of fice.
Approxi mately one hour |ater, Gaughenbaugh returned to discuss
the evaluation in depth. He conplained about the |ack of
specificity and the inadequate amount of time spent by Brown
observing his performance. During the course of the neeting,
Gaughenbaugh asked Brown how she could substantiate his
eval uation. She said, anong other things, that that was
"privileged information.”

Unsatisfied with the results of his neeting with Brown,
Gaughenbaugh filed a formal grievance on May 15, 1980, in which

he alleged that the evaluation violated the collective

3The Center is made up of three prograns, pre-school,
ki ndergarten, and school age. The latter is also known as the
extended day program Gaughenbaugh teaches in the school age
and ki ndergarten prograns.



bar gai ni ng agreenent between NSEA and the District. The
grievance was filed under the negotiated grievance procedure on
a formprovided for in the agreenent. (Gaughenbaugh hand
delivered the formal grievance formto Brown. He testified
that, wupon receiving the grievance form Brown said:

Wel |, she said, she thought it was really

unprof essional of nme to get parent letters,

because | had gotten about 18 parent support

letters. And she said that she would never

give me a good eval uati on now.

On May 16 Brown returned the grievance to Gaughenbaugh vi a
his attorney. She said it was filed on the wong form and
encl osed what she erroneously clained was the correct form In
conparing the forns, it is obvious that they are al nost
identical. However, the contract shows that Gaughenbaugh had
used the correct form In any eVent, Gaughenbaugh refiled the
grievance on the form suggested by Brown. Brown made no claim
at this level that the grievance could not be processed because
Gaughenbaugh did not exhaust the informal step of the negoti ated
gri evance procedure. Her only objection was that he used the
wong form
On May 20, 1980, the grievance as refiled was rejected at

| evel one. This tine, the grievance was rejected because the
District contended Gaughenbaugh failed to neet informally wth
his supervisor (Brown) prior to filing the formal grievance.

The contract between NSEA and the District requires the

enpl oyee to neet informally with his/her imediate supervisor



prior to filing a formal grievance.* The decision not to
process the grievance was appealed through all of the renaining
steps in the grievance procedure and was upheld at each |evel,
the final denial by the District comng on June 18, 1980.

The di sagreenent about the proper procedure for processing
a grievance and whether Gaughenbaugh satisfied the contractua
requirenents at the informal |evel was eventually discussed at
a board of trustees neeting on Cctober 8, 1980. That neeting
w |l be discussed bel ow

Meanwhil e, prior to the Cctober 8 neeting, according to
Gaughenbaugh, he was told by M chael Contreras, teacher in
charge,® that Brown had instructed him (Contreras) to
docunent Gaughenbaugh soon after the grievance was fil ed.
Gaughenbaugh described the conversation with Contreras as

foll ows:

Well, he said basically that he had been
asked by Sybil to docunent ny behavior. And
| asked him well, when did this start. And

“The relevant portion of the grievance procedure states:

Before filing a grievance, the enpl oyee
shall attenpt to resolve any conplaint by a
conference with his/her inmmedi ate supervisor

5The "teacher in charge" is the "designee" of the
program manager. There is insufficient evidence in the
record to conclude that Contreras was a supervisor. The
record does show, however, that he was a "leadman" and in a
"strategic position to translate to [his] subordinates the
policies and desires of managenent." See Vista Verde Farns
v. ALRB (1981) 29 Cal.3d 307, 318-319 | Cal . Rptr. I,

ad cases cited therein.




he said after | had filed the grievance. It
mey have been the same day that | handed the
grievance to them. He also said if | wes

right I didn't have anything to worry about.

Prior to Gaughenbaugh's filing of the grievance he had never
received ay maros from Brom regarding violations of work
rules, nor had he received any written reprimands from Bromn
regarding improper behavior during the 4-5 years she had been
his supervisor. Soon after the grievance was finally rejected
on June 18, Gaughenbaugh began to receive negative work-related
maros on a regular basis.® Since these marcs foom the basis
of the Association's charge, they will be examined in detail.

The Sick Leave Mam.

On July 9 and 10, 1980, Gaughenbaugh was absent from work
on sick leave.” On the morning of each absence Gaughenbaugh

®Copies of all maros to teachers from Broan go into the
teacher's Children's Center file. Copies of some, but not all,
of these menos are also forwarded to the District personnel
files. Mers that are placed solely in the Children's Center
file are used by Bromn to remind her of any previous infractions
of rules when evaluating a teacher. If infractions have
occurred frequently, they are written into the evaluation.
According to Brown, mayos in the Children's Center files stay in
those files "quite some time, depending on how [she] want[s] to
use the file." Three of the five marnos discussed herein were
forwarded to Gaughenbaugh's District personnel file. These
were the maros regarding the smimming pool incident, the mero
regarding responsibilities of the closing teacher, and the mamD
regarding the unauthorized absence of October 8, 1980. All
manos are discussed below.

"There is a conflict in the record as to the number of
days Gaughenbaugh weas absent. He testified that he was absent
three consecutive days. Brown's mamo to Gaughenbaugh, dated



notified the staff by tel ephone that he would be absent for the

day. He did not notify the Center the day prior to each absence
because he did not know with certainty that he would be sick the
foll owi ng day.

On returning to work, Gaughenbaugh received a neno from
Brown dated July 10 informng himthat if staff were to be
absent for several consecutive days they were to call in the
previous afternoon in order to give the District enough time to
make arrangenents for substitutes. Brown did not discuss this
meno with Gaughenbaugh before issuing it.

The District's witten policy on this point states in
rel evant part:

Except in energency situations, prior

approval for sick |eave shall be secured

fromthe Child Care Manager
The col |l ective bargai ning agreenent includes al nost identical
| anguage.

Brown recognized in her testinony, as well as in her meno to
Gaughenbaugh, that it is possible for a teacher to get sick the
ni ght before an absence and not be able to call in until the
norning of the absence. Brown also testified that she had never

sent a simlar neno to any other enployee because this problem

had never occurred before.

July 10, indicates that Gaughenbaugh was absent for two
consecutive days, July 9 and 10. It is unnecessary to resolve
this conflict to decide the case.



Gaughenbaugh and two other teachers at Ben Ali¢ Rosal ee
Faul kner and Dorothy Dillon, testified that there have been
occasions on which they were absent on consecutive days due to
il ness, but had called in each norning, rather than the
previous afternoon, to notify the school of their absence. The
fact that Faul kner called in on the norning of such an absence
was recorded in the Center log. None had received reprimnds
for their behavior in the past.

The Swi nmi ng Pool | ncident.

On July 24, 1980, Gaughenbaugh was reprimnded for buying
Cokes for hinself and two children on July 3, 1980 at a nearby
refreshment stand while supervising a class outing to a sw nmmng
pool. The reprimand was based on three grounds. |t stated:

| would remind you that you were in violation of three
Center rules for teachers:

1) Children for whomyou were responsible were
| eft unsupervised when you went out to the
chuckwagon.

2) Teachers are expected to nodel the rules set
for children.

3) Children do not understand the discrimnation
you were showing in providing a "treat" for
just two of sone 30 children.
A copy of the reprimand was placed in Gaughenbaugh's officia
personnel file by Brown without discussion wth Gaughenbaugh
The District's witten policy on this point is reflected in
a My 24, 1976 menmo from Sybil Brown to the staff. It states in

rel evant part:



Regardi ng noney - There have been bulletins
to parents In the past (and we shall put it
into procedures for new enrollees) that
children should not bring noney, toys, candy
or gumto the Centers since this causes many
problens for the other children and the
staff. Tell the children and the parents
that we have lots of things to do and play
with at the Center and that it is hard to
share one thing wth so many children so why
don't they keep it to go hone to.

Here again, there has to be a certain anount
of flexibility. |If, as a teamin a room you
agree that certain itens wll be allowable
under certain conditions - do your thing.
Money is really a "no no" since AFDC
recipients are not supposed to pay for
anything in the programand all the children
in the programare to be treated alike as far
as rules and regulations go. |If a famly
wants to do sonething special for the Center,
treats for everybody are always wel cone.

Each Center mght get up a list of itens
parents coul d make provided we supply the

mat eri al s.

The reprimand was pronpted by a July 11, 1980 nmeno to her
from Contreras, who reported that negative comments about the
i ncident were subsequently made by students during a class
meet i ng. Gﬂughehbaugh was not given an opportunity to explain
his actions before the reprinmand was issued.

Gaughenbaugh did not learn that these children were unabl e
to swmuntil he arrived at the pool that day. He expl ained
his reasons for buying the Cokes to the other children when
they got out of the pool, and they voiced no objections.

In a letter dated July 29, Gaughenbaugh protested the

reprimand on the grounds that the two children for whom he had
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purchased Cokes were unable to swmdue to injury or inability
and therefore it was "fair" that they received Cokes while the
other children did not. 1In the letter he said:

It is ny professional belief that the purpose
and intent of field trips is to enrich the
lives and experiences of our students. The
benefits to the children nust be conferred in
light of the totality of the circunstances.
On the date in question, the children were
taken to the pool to allow themto enjoy
heal t hful exercise and camaraderie in a
positive environment, which they look to with
anticipation. On this occasion tw of the
children, either through injury or inability,
were not able to engage in the sw nm ng
activity. 1t was apparent to ne that they
were feeling neglected and unhappy as they
wat ched their classmates at play. | felt a
responsibility to make the day a success for
themas well as the others. It occurredto

me that perhaps a sinple gesture of support
and caring would let them take home from the
activities the sane feeling of enjoynent as
the other children. Wth this in mnd, |
bought each of thema Coke. M intent was
not to show favoritism but to fill the loss
they suffered in being left out.

Gaughenbaugh further stated in the letter that, given the
di stance of the chuckwagon from the pool (approximately 30 feet)
and the nunber of teachers (approximately 2 or 3) and |ifeguards
(approximately 6) present, there was no problemw th supervision
of the swwnmng children. Gaughenbaugh's response did not
affect Brown's decision to reprinmand.

The evi dence showed that, in the past, Gaughenbaugh as well
as other teachers have left students while on field trips to

buy soft drinks for thenselves w thout being reprinmnded. The

11



evi dence al so showed that while on field trips teachers bought
chil dren snacks. For exanple, Gaughenbaugh took children to "a
l[ittle cappicino (sic) place" and bought them hot chocol ate.

He testified that he thought this was a "good educationa
experience.” On another occasion, he bought a child a

m | kshake for winning a pool tournanent. Carole Limng
simlarly testified that she has bought children snacks while
on field trips. She said she never heard of a rule prohibiting
this.

The C osing |ncident.

On July 30, 1980, the day after Gaughenbaugh responded to
the swimm ng pool reprimand, Brown reprinmanded Gaughenbaugh for
failing to fulfill his responsibility as "closing teacher" by
maki ng sure all children had been signed out before he left.
One child remained and substitute teacher Carole Limng saw to
it that he was properly signed out. On the day in question it

was Gaughenbaugh's responsibility to close the Center.

The District's witten procedure for doing so states in
rel evant part:

C osing person/s should be contracted staff
menber/s unless only substitutes are

avail able. dosing person/s should
coordinate to make sure all itens l|isted
bel ow are acconpli shed.

- - - - - - . L] - - - - - L] » - - - - L] -

At 5:45 p.m, assess renaining children and
determ ne whether calls need to be made for
pi ckup.

12



Sybil Browmn testified that it has been the '"general practice"
for a regular staff membea, as opposed to a substitute, to
"assume the responsibility for meking sure that everything is
okay a the end of the day." |

The Center is housed in an L-shaped building. The extended
day program (where Gaughenbaugh taught) weas housed in one wing.
The pre-school and kindergarten programs were housed in the
other wing.

Gaughenbaugh testified that on the day in question all his
extended day children had departed as of 550 p.m. He stayed
in his classroom until 6:00 p.m., at which time he, too,
departed because no children had been brought from the other
classrooms for him to supervise until closing. The workday at
the Center ends at 6:00 p.m.

Carole Liming, a substitute teacher in pre-school, testified
that at 6:00 p.m. she took a child from the pre-school area to
the extended day care area® Upon arriving there, she found
that Gaughenbaugh had gone, and no other teachers remained, so
she stayed with the child until the child was picked up after

6:00 p.m. Liming testified that staying late was "no real

8Although Liming was a substitute, she had worked a Ben
Ali for in excess of one year as of the date of the closing
incident.

13



burden"” to her. She said, "[l]ts a responsibility that happens
sonetines. "

Accordi ng to Gaughenbaugh, the normal closing procedure was
for teachers from other classroons to bring remaining students
to himas of 5:50 p.m° Sone days, all students were picked
up early and none were brought to himat closing tine.
Gaughenbaugh further testified that he was never told to check
ot her classroons, and his practice was not to do so.
Gaughenbaugh' s testinony about the closing procedure was
corroborated by M chael Contreras, who also said that, as a
closing teacher, he did not always check the other classroons
before leaving. The Center's witten closing procedure does

not require the closing teacher to check other classroons.

Brown testified that prior to reprimndi ng Gaughenbaugh she
investigated the closing incident. Her investigation, which
did not include a discussion with Gaughenbaugh, reveal ed that
on the day in question no other regular teachers were present
late in the day towards closing tine. This was contradicted by
Rosal ee Faul kner, a regular pre-school teacher, who testified

that on the day in question she was at Ben Ali until 5:55 p.m

After the incident in question a copy of the Brown reprimand

was placed in Gaughenbaugh's District personnel file and he was

°Linming understood that the students remaining as of b5:45
p.m should be brought to Gaughenbaugh.
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instructed to check the other classroons prior to |eaving at
6:00 p.m This instruction was reflected in a changed Center
cl osing policy.

The District's desire to have a regular teacher close the
Center stens chiefly fromits concern that an unauthorized
adult, unknown to a substitute teacher, may arrive to pick up a
child. Apparently, children may only be picked up by adults who
are listed with the Center. The District presumably feels that
a reqgular teacher, as opposed to a substitute, will be nore
famliar wth the list of authorized adults and therefore better
able to identify an unauthorized adult in the event this should
occur. But Contreras testified that even regular teachers nmay
be unfamliar with adults who pick up children. He said it has
been necessary to ask for identification, such as a drivers
license, in the event this situation occurs.

The Center Log Entries.

On August 7, 1980, Brown reprinmanded Gaughenbaugh for his
use of the Center log. The log is a notebook kept in a central
| ocation at Ben Ali and used by staff to communicate wth one
another. Two notes from Gaughenbaugh to Brown, entered in the
log by Gaughenbaugh at about the tine of the other reprimnds,
were the subject of the reprimand. The first note, dated July

28, stated:
Now that the CTA is involved wth ny

gri evance agai nst you, M. Percel, CTA
representative has advised ne to have no

15



further contact with you unless | am
represented by a union arbitrator.

The second note, dated July 30, stated:
| would like to informyou that under the
ci rcunstances your so called informnal
observations and nenos are considered
harassnent by the union.
Brown considered these entries too "personal and confidential”
for the |og.

No formal rules regarding use of the Center log existed on
the dates involved here. Contreras testified that the log is
"strictly used for center purposes only, for matters concerning
the center." Contreras further testified that it was used for
i nformal communi cation anong the staff regarding the operation
of Ben Ali and that in the past it had been used for itens such

as "thank-you" notes.

The Personal Leave |ncident.

On Novenber 19, 1980, Gaughenbaugh received a neno from Dean
Mansfield, District Superintendent, informng himthat his pay
woul d be docked for an unauthorized absence on Cctober 8, 1980.

The facts leading up to this incident are as follows. On
Cctober 1, 1980, Gaughenbaugh asked Contreras for perm ssion to
be absent for one hour beginning at 5:00 p.m on Cctober 8.
Contreras indicated he saw no problemwth the absence. On
Cctober 8, prior to |eaving, Gaughenbaugh again cleared the
absence with Contreras, who again indicated that he saw no

problemw th the absence, since there were enough teachers to
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cover the remaining students. Contreras testified that he
assuned Gaughenbaugh had cleared the absence through Brown.

A factual dispute exists as to the procedure for approval of
this absence. (Gaughenbaugh testified that an informal practice
exi sted whereby short absences were cleared through the teacher
in charge (Contreras) who would approve or deny the request
based on whet her enough teachers were available to cover. In
the past, when Gaughenbaugh served as the teacher in charge
under Brown's supervision, he granted informal tine off in short
periods and Brown never voiced opposition to or criticismof the
practice. Faulkner and Dillon both corroborated Gaughenbaugh's
version of the procedure for getting short periods of time off.
For exanpl e, Faul kner was excused to go to another school to
wat ch her daughter performin a talent show Faul kner's absence
was recorded in the Center |10g. Gaughenbaugh was granted tine
off to take care of "car trouble."

Contreras testified that, as teacher in charge, he had no
authority to approve short absences. According to Contreras, he
determned only that the remaining children could be covered by
the remai ning teachers, and he never approved an absence that
wasn't cleared by Brown. But he later admtted to excusing
teachers "15 mnutes or so" early if enough teachers renained

to supervise the children

Gaughenbaugh requested the one hour off so he could attend

a board of trustees neeting where his grievance was being
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discussed by the board ad Morris Schlessinger, a CIA staff
representative. Although the grievance was not an agenda item,
arrangements had been mede with the District by Association
representatives to present the matter during the "oral
communications' portion of the meeting. The minutes of the
meeting dow that Morris Schlesinger, CIA representative,
addressed the board on Gaughenbaugh's grievance.

Gaughenbaugh never informed Contreras as to wy he wanted
time off. Contreras never asked Gaughenbaugh for the reason he
wanted the time.

ISSJES

1. Is the filing of a grievance under a collective
bargaining agreement protected activity under the HERA?

2. Did the District discriminate or retaliate against Kent
Gaughenbaugh because he exercised a right protected by the EHERA?
DISCUSGION AND CONCLUJONS OF AV
The District advances the argument that Gaughenbaugh's use
of the contractual grievance procedure is not a right protected
by the EERA. Therefore, according to the District, there can be
no violation of section 3543.5(a). In support of this position

the District interprets the Board's decision in Badwin Park

Unified School District (4/4/79) HEHB Decision No. 92, as

impliedly holding that use of a contractual grievance procedure

is not a protected right. This argument is without merit.
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The Board's decision in Baldwin Park, supra, was based on

the rationale that denial of a grievance because it failed to
state facts constituting a violation of the collective
bar gai ni ng agreenment was a matter of contractual
interpretation, not an independent violation of the EERA. A
conmpletely different issue is presented by the allegation that
an enployer has retaliated against an enployee for filing a
grievance, provided, of course, that filing a grievance is
protected by the Act.

The processing of a grievance by an enpl oyee organi zation
on behal f of enployees clearly constitutes a matter of
"enmpl oynment relations” within the nmeaning of section

1 3543.1(a).*® Santa Monica Comunity College District

(9/21/79) PERB Decision No. 103, pp. 14-15, citing Mount Di ablo

Unified School District, Santa Ana Unified School District, and

Capi strano Unified School District (12/30/77) PERB Deci sion

No. 44. It follows logically that an enployee's right to
process a grievance on his own behalf or in concert with an

enpl oyee organi zation falls within the fundanental right to

participate in the activities of
enployee organi zations of their own choosing

0Section 3543.1(a) states in relevant part:

Enpl oyee organi zati ons shall have the right
to represent their nenbers in their

enpl oynent relations with public schoo

enpl oyers.
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for the purpose of representation on al
matters of enpl oyer-enpl oyee rel ations.
Section 3543.
An argunent simlar to that offered by the District in this case

was adopted by the hearing officer in Baldwin Park Unified

School District, supra. The hearing officer's decision in this

respect was "expressly set aside" by the Board. Baldwi n Park

Unified School District, supra, p. 5.

Additionally, adoption of the District's argunent woul d
produce the anomal ous result of recognizing the statutory right
to negotiate, while refusing to recognize the corresponding
right to enforce agreenents via the negotiated grievance
procedure. The negotiation and the adm nistration of a
col l ective bargaining agreement, including the filing of
grievances, go hand in hand. It is well settled that

[t]he duty to bargain unquestionably extends
beyond the period of contract negotiations
and applies to |abor-nmanagenent relations
during the termof an agreenment. NLRB v.
Acme Industrial Co. (1967) 385 U.S. 432, 436
2069]. 11 See also Jefferson

[64 TRRM .
School District (6/19/80) PERB Decrsion
No. 133, pp. b54-55, 115.

“Conmparabl e provisions of the federal Labor Management
Rel ations Act (LMRA) 19 U.S.C. 151 et seq., nmay be used to
guide iInterpretation of EERA. Sweetwater Union H gh School.
District (11/23/76) EERB Decision No. 4. (Prior to July 1
1978, PERB was known as the Educational Enploynent Rel ations

Board, or EERB.) Also see Fire Fighters Union v. Gty of.
Val l ejo (1974) 12 Cal.3d 608.
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Refusal to process a grievance or retaliating against a grievant

. . inevitably inpedes and di scourages the
uni on and the enpl oyees from exercising their
right to invoke the grievance procedure and
thus defeats the very purpose of the Act to
pronote the orderly settlenent of |[abor
di sputes. Anerican Beef Packers (1971) 193
NLRB 1117, 1119 [78 LRRM 1508].

In this case, Gaughenbaugh's activity consisted of
processing a grievance under the collective bargai ning agreenent
negotiated by the Association and the District. Early in the
procedure, Gaughenbaugh processed the grievance with the
assistance of his attorney. Later in the procedure, he was
represented by the Association. The hearing officer can
conceive of no better exanple of a right enconpassed by section
3543.% |t remains to be determined if the District
retaliated agai nst Gaughenbaugh for exercising this basic right.

Application of the Carlsbad Test.

The Board established a single test for resolving alleged
vi ol ations of section 3543.5(a) dealing with enployer conduct.

Carl sbad Unified School District (1/30/79) PERB Decision No. 89.

2This right is the same as that afforded enpl oyees under
the National Labor Relations Act. See, Interboro Contractors,
Inc (1966) 157 NLRB 1295 [61 LRRM 1537], enf. (CA 2 1667) 388
2d 495 [67 LRRM 2083]; NLRB v. Selwn Shoe Manuf act uring Corp..
(CA 8 1970) 428 F.2d 217 [ 74 LRRM 2474]. Conpare, Kohler v.
NLRB (D.C. Cir. 1980) 629 F.2d 173 [104 LRRM 3049]; NLRB v.
Bi ghorn Beverage (CA 9 1980) 614 F.2d 1238 [103 LRRM 13008] .

See also, Morris, The Devel opi ng Labor Law, Cumul ative Supp.
1971-78, Ch. 5.
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This test mey be summaized as follows. Whae there is a nexus
between the employer's acts ad the exercise of employee rights
a prima facie case is established upon a dhowing that those acts
resulted in some ham to the employee's rights. If the employer
offers operational necessity in explanation of its conduct the
competing interests of the parties are balanced axd the issue
resolved accordingly. If the employer's acts are inherently
destructive of employee rights, however, those acts can be
exonerated only upon a showing that they were the result of
circumstances beyond the employer's control axd no alternative
course of action was available. In any event, the charge will
be sustained if unlawful intent is established either

affirmatively or by inference from the record. Santa Monica

Community College District (9/21/79) HHB Decision No. 103,

p. 17.

The facts amply demonstrate the requisite nexus to protected
activity in the instant case. Gaughenbaugh had been employed by
the District aad supervised by Brom for approximately 4-5 years
when he filed his grievance in May 1980. During this entire
period, Gaughenbaugh had never received alwy negative nmenos or
reprimands from Brom regarding his performance. Yet, in the
approximately six months following the filing of his grievance,
Gaughenbaugh received five negative manos énd/or written
reprimands, three of which wee placed in his official personnel

file. AIll mays wee placed in the file Brom kept, to be used
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for future evaluations. Four of the five reprimnds were
received within three nonths of filing the grievance at Step 3
of the grievance procedure. The timng of the District's
actions conbined with the fact that Gaughenbaugh had never
recei ved any negative nenos or reprimands prior to filing his
grievance establishes the requisite nexus between the exercise
of a protected right and the District's actions.®

In addition to constituting retaliation against and
harassnent of Gaughenbaugh, such nenos have the natural and
probabl e consequences of causing other enployees reasonably to
fear that simlar action wuld be taken against them if they
chose to file a grievance. This cannot help but have a chilling
effect on the exercise of protected rights under the Act and
constitutes at least "slight" harmto these rights. Carlsbad

Unified School District, supra, p. 10. A prima facie case

havi ng been established, it was incunbent on the District to
offer some justification for its acts based on operational
necessity. |d.

It is recognized that, in an abstract sense, Brown nmay have

13In addition to establishing the required nexus, the
timing of the manos and the fact that Gaughenbaugh had received
no reprimands or similar manos during the 4-5 years he worked
under Brown are themselves evidence from which an unlawful
motive can be inferred. NLRB v. General Warehouse Corp. (CA 3
1981) 643 F.2d 965 [106 LRRM 2729, 2733-34], Wright Line, Inc.
(1980) 251 NNRB 150 [105 LRRVI 1169, 1175-76].
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had a legitimate concern for the administration of the Center
in those specific areas whae she cited Gaughenbaugh. A school
administrator is certainly justified in establishing ad
enforcing rules related to the daily closing of the Center,
snacks for young children, short periods of time off from work,
ad sick leave call-in procedures. Although the filing of a

. grievance did not exempt Gaughenbaugh from having rule
infractions corrected by his superiors, the evidence shows that
there was mae a wak here than merdly the desire of Brom or
Mansfield to correct the so-called infractions. As the
following discussion illustrates, the District has not $hown
that the so-called infractions committed by Gaughenbaugh
violated any rule or policy. Indeed, in sore instances his
conduct was consistent with that of other teachers or past
practice. Nao has it been dhowvn that Gaughenbaugh's conduct
presented any threat whatsoever to the operation of the Center
or the well-being of children or teachers. They weae minor in
nature and in some instances they weae totally without

substance. Each reprimand will rmowv be discussed.

The evidence does not dow that Gaughenbaugh violated ay
Center policy or rule by not calling a day in advance for sick
leave. The written rule does require that prior approva be
secured, but it includes an emergency exception. Even Brown
conceded that a teacher could not call in the day before an

illness if he or she did not kkow they would be sick the next
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day. Thus, in order for Gaughenbaugh to be held in violation of
the rule, the District would have to dow that he actually knew
on the day prior to each absence that he woud be sick the
following day. The District has failed to sow this. To the
contrary, the uncontroverted testimony of Gaughenbaugh shows
that he did not kow in advance that he would be sick on the
days in question. He called in the morning of each absence to
report his sickness. Furthermore, there was scant evidence to
dow that the District wes understaffed due to Gaughenbaugh's
absences or that the absences had atwy adverse impact on the
District's mission.** Therefore, it is concluded that there

wes no valid reason for the reprimand.

In addition, the evidence shows, contrary to Brown's
testimony, that there wee at least two other prior occasions
where teachers called in to request sick leave on the morning
of their absences. Both occurred during the course of two or
more consecutive days of absence and the employees received no
corrective mamo. Brown weas presumably aware of Faulkner's

calling in on the morning of her absence since it was recorded

“The only evidence available to dow that this absence
affected the Center's operation weas the unsubstantiated
reference by Bromn in hea maro to Gaughenbaugh that the Center
staffing on July 10, 1980 wes out of ratio. But this can't be
attributed to Gaughenbaugh. Bven under the District's omn
procedure, there was presumably sufficient time after he called
in to secure a replacement or meke other arrangements to
compensate for his absence.
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in the Center |og. Issuance of the corrective neno to
Gaughenbaugh for the same conduct by others condoned in the past
is evidence of disparate treatnent and tends to show that an
underlying unlawful notive pronpted the neno. See NLRB v.
General Warehouse Corp., supra, 106 LRRM 2729, 2334; Marin

Community College District (11/19/80) PERB Decision No. 145,

pp. 12-13.

Last, Brown issued this neno with no investigation or
di scussion with Gaughenbaugh as to whether he knew of his
si ckness in advance of the days in question. A discussion with
Gaughenbaugh woul d obvi ously have established that he did not
know on the preceding days that he would be sick on the days in
guestion. Thus, Brown would have |earned that he was not in
violation of the policy. Her failure to nake any attenpt to
investigate the facts surrounding this incident to discover
Gaughenbaugh' s expl anati on suggests that she was nore concerned
with issuing the nmenmo than following the rule. This casts doubt

on her reason for issuing the nmeno. TAMA Meat Packi ng Corp.

(1977) 120 NLRB 116 [96 LRRM 1148], nod. (CA 8 1978) 575 F.2d
661 [98 LRRM 2339].

Much of the sanme can be said about the reprinmand issued
after Gaughenbaugh bought Cokes for two children at the sw nm ng
pool. Initially, it nust be observed that the witten policy
with respect to prohibiting children from bringing noney, toys,

candy, etc. to the Center, does not expressly prohibit teachers
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from purchasing treats for children. The rule only prohibits
children frombringing their ow treats or noney. Moreover, the
rule affords teachers a "certain anount of flexibility" to allow
deviations fromthe general rule. The rule tells teachers to
"do your thing" under certain circunstances determned by the

t eacher.

Thus, given the express |anguage in the rule and the
flexibility afforded teachers in this area, coupled with
Gaughenbaugh's explanation as to why he purchased the Cokes
presented in his July 29 letter to Brown, (see pp. 10-11,
supra), no reasonable person could conclude that Gaughenbaugh
abused his discretion in buying the Cokes. Accordingly, it is
concl uded that Gaughenbaugh did not violate either the letter
or the spirit of the rule.

Additionally, the evidence shows that the children were not
| eft unsupervi sed when Gaughenbaugh went to buy the Cokes. The
refreshment stand was nearby and there were adequate teachers
and lifeguards present to deal with any energency which nay have
come up during his short absence. Thus, the District's m ssion
was in no way jeopardized. All of these points would have been
easily discovered by Brown had she made any attenpt to
investigate this incident, and there would therefore have been
no need to issue the reprimand. Instead, she accepted the
comments of children, transmtted to her by Contreras in the

formof a conplaint, as the sole basis for the reprimand. Once
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again, her failure to nore thoroughly investigate this matter
casts doubt on her stated concern for followng the rules cited
in her meno and suggests that she was nore concerned with

repri mandi ng Gaughenbaugh than she was with the proper

enforcenent of the rule. TAMA Meat Packing Corp., supra.

Furthernore, it was established that teachers did not always
nodel the rule set for children. There have been incidents in
the past where teachers, including Contreras, the teacher in
charge, left their posts to purchase drinks for themselves.?*®
And it was al so established that teachers had purchased snacks
for students while on field trips in the past. For exanple,
sonme children were taken to a "little cappucino” place, while
another received a mlkshake for wi nning a pool tournanent. In
these circunstances, as in the pool incident, the purchase of
the snacks seens a perfectly reasonabl e exercise of the

di scretion provided the teacher by the rule.?® Thus, the

1°Regarding the teacher's responsibility to modd rules
set for children, Brom wes asked if she sawv a difference
between a teacher buying a treat for a child as opposed to a
teacher buying a treat for himself or another teacher. She
responded that "maylbe a cold drink, something of that sort”
woud be acceptable, but, in her view, it woud not be
acceptable "to go ad buy a candy bar ad sit there ad eat it
in front of a bunch of little children.” This unpersuasive
explanation suggests that there was no firm rule which required
teachers to modd the rules established for children, thus
casting doubt on that part of the reprimand which is based on
an infraction of such a rule.

1%Broan objected to buying snacks for some children ad
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practice that enmerges is one which accepts such conduct as
falling wwthin the discretionary authority and flexibility |eft
to teachers to "do your thing" when circunstances permt.
Therefore, it is concluded that no rule has been violated and
there was no valid reason for the reprimand. To the contrary,
snacks had been bought for children in the past by teachers
without drawing a reprimand. A reprinmand given for conduct
previously condoned is indicative of an unlawful notive. NLRB

——

v. Ceneral Warehouse Corp., supra, 106 LRRM 2729, 2334, V &V

Castings (1977) 231 NLRB 912 [96 LRRM 1121] enf. (CA 9 1978)
587 F.2d 1005, [100 LRRM 2303].

Simlarly, the evidence shows that Gaughenbaugh vi ol ated no
Center rule or policy as closing teacher on July 29, 1980. The
practice had been that remaining children were brought to the
closing teacher by either 5:45 p.m or 550 p.m, and the
closing teacher would take the necessary steps to contact the
responsi ble adult for pickup. There was no requirenment, witten

or otherwise, for the closing teacher to seek out renaining

not others because it was a formof discrimnation. According
to Brown, the Center is federally funded and under an obligation
not to discrimnate. She said that, "If the Feds who supply

the noney for the center knew that two children had received
sonething that the rest hadn't on that day, that could be a
discrimnation charge." Aside fromthe fact that there is no
evi dence that Gaughenbaugh used federal noney to buy the Cokes,
this explanation strikes the hearing officer as an exaggerated
fear of an unlikely eventuality. Using contrived or exaggerated
reasons to support the reprimand casts doubt on her explanation.
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students in other parts of the Center before departing at

6:00 p.m Gaughenbaugh testified that he never checked ot her
parts of the Center before closing. Even Contreras, the
teacher in charge, testified that it was not his practice as a
closing teacher to check for children.

Further, on the day in question, Gaughenbaugh departed at
6:00 p.m, all of his students having left by 550 p.m Limng
brought a renmining student to Gaughenbaugh at 6:00 p.m, but
found that he had gone and no other regular teachers renained.
Apparently, Limng and Gaughenbaugh just m ssed each other at
that hour. Nevertheless, Limng proceeded to take the
necessary steps to have the child picked up. She did so
wi t hout i ncident.

These undi sputed facts, coupled with the absence of a
requirement that the closing teacher either seek out remaining
students or stay past 6:00 p.m, further support the concl usion
t hat Gaughenbaugh did not violate any Center rule or policy.

If anything, Limng may have been at fault for not bringing the
remai ni ng student to Gaughenbaugh by 5:50 p.m, as expected and
as provided for in the witten policy. But it would be
senseless to point the finger at Limng for violating a Center
closing policy when that very policy contenpl ates occasions when
a substitute nust serve as the closing teacher. The policy
states that the closing teacher should be a regular contracted
staff nmenber "unless only substitutes are available.” In this

case, through no serious transgression on anyone's part, only a
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substitute was avail able. She handled the closing w thout
incident and viewed it as "no real burden.”

Moreover, the District's chief concern was not that the
closing teacher did not stay with the child, but that a
substitute rather than a regular contract teacher was left with
the child. The District's justified concern was that the child
m ght be released to the wong person. But this concern was
grossly overstated as applied in this case. |If the person who
comes for the child is not the parent or other authorized adult,
a regul ar teacher has no nore advantage over a substitute in
safeguarding the child. A regular teacher, like a substitute,
m ght not be famliar with all persons on the list of people
authorized to pick up the child. Both are left to the sane
devices - a check on the energency cardl 7 and a request for
identification. Even Contreras, a regular teacher who has
served as a closing teacher, testified that he was not famliar
with all parents or guardians and m ght have to ask for
identification under sone circunstances. And, although Lim ng
was a substitute, she had worked at the Center far in excess of
one year at the tinme of the incident. Thus she presunmably had
some famliarity with the individuals authorized to pick up

chil dren. In addition, this was not the first tine a

-
o'¢'Adults authorized to pick up children are apparently
listed on energency cards at the Center.
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substitute has been the only teacher available at closing
time.*®

Based on the foregoing, it is concluded that there was no
real danger to the child or the District's overall mission.
Liming, athough a substitute teacher, stayed with the child at
all times and closed the Center without incident. Thus,
Gaughenbaugh was reprimanded for following an established

practice. This is evidence of an unlawful motive. NFRB v.

General Warehouse Corp., supra; V & V Castings, supra

As to the next reprimand, a close examination of the record
shows that the District's decision to dodk Gaughenbaugh one
hour of pay wien he attended the school board meeting wes
inappropriate. Although the District attempted to establish at
the hearing that Contreras had no authority to authorize the
short absence on October 8, the evidence clearly dows that the
well-established practice wes otherwise. Gaughenbaugh and
Faulkner testified that in the past the teacher in charge has
goproved short absences, provided, as here, enough teachers

remained to supervise the children.'® For example, Faulkner

Bromn testified that she investigated the incident
before issuing the reprimand and concluded that there wes no
regular teacher present late in the day towad closing time.
However, Faulkner, a regular teacher in the pre-school weas
present in the pre-school until 555 p.m. This casts serious
doubt on the amourt of effort Bromn put into the investigation
before issuing the reprimand.

19Contreras also confirmed the existence of this practice,
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was excused to watch her daughter performin a talent show and
Gaughenbaugh was excused to take care of car trouble.
Significantly, Gaughenbaugh convincingly testified that he
approved such requests while acting as teacher in charge under
Brown's supervision and she never objected. Presunably, Brown
was aware of Gaughenbaugh's conduct in this regard, since she
testified that it is her practice to nove about the Center,
observing the operation and establishing considerable contact
wth the staff.

Additionally, at the hearing the District elicited testinony
regarding the procedures for requesting the various types of
| eave set forth in the contract, including which managenent
official had the authority to approve a |eave request. These
various types of leave included sick | eave, vacation |eave,
personal necessity |leave, etc. The hearing officer finds this

evidence to be irrelevant. The record shows that, in addition

al though to a sonmewhat |esser degree. He testified that he had
no authority to approve absences; his authority extended only
to determning that the Center would be adequately staffed in
the event of an absence. But Contreras also testified that he
permtted teachers to |leave work "15 m nutes or so" early,
provided staffing was adequate. This testinony suggests at
least a limted authority on his part to approve short absences
at the end of the day, the tine of Gaughenbaugh's absence.
Moreover, Contreras testified that there were enough teachers
remai ning on Cctober 8 to cover the remaining children. Thus,
the use of the |eave presented no problemwth respect to the
District conducting its operation in the Center.
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to the procedures for requesting axd receiving these
traditional types of leave, there existed a completely separate
established practice wheeby employees wee permitted short
absences by the teacher in charge. It was for taking one hour
off under this latter practice that Gaughenbaugh wes
reprimanded and docked one hour of pay. The finding that this
separate procedure existed is supported by the fact that, soon
after Gaughenbaugh was docked one hour's pay, the District took
steps to change the procedures governing the requesting ad
granting of the various kinds of leave. Thus, the informal
procedure referred to above is no longer in existence ad the

teacher-in-charge no longer approves short absences.

Based on the foregoing, it is concluded that Gaughenbaugh's
short absence, cleared through Contreras, was consistent with
past practice. Disciplining employees for conduct accepted in
the past is evidence of an unlawful motive. NR3 v. General
Warehouse Corp., supra, 106 LRRM 2729, 2334; V_& V. Castings,
supra, 100 LRRVI 2303, 2305.

Finally, the purpose for which Gaughenbaugh used the time
cannot be overlooked. It is undisputed that he attended a
board of trustees meeting where an Association representative
discussed certain aspects of his grievance with the board. The
discussion had been arranged with District representatives by
the Association's president for the very purpose of discussing

the grievance. Section 3543.1(c) provides:
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A reasonabl e nunber of representatives of an

excl usive representative shall have the

right to receive reasonable periods of

rel eased tinme without |oss of conpensation

when neeting and negotiating and for the

processing of grievances.
The October 8 neeting clearly falls within the nmeaning of the
phrase "processing of grievances," thus entitling the enployee
representative to released time, even if it is not considered a
formal part of the grievance procedure. It follows logically
that the enpl oyee being represented is likewise entitled to a
reasonabl e anount of released tinme. Also, the neeting
unquestionably involved representation of Gaughenbaugh by his
chosen representative on an enploynent-related matter, and the
District was aware of this at the time it docked Gaughenbaugh's
pay. Under such circunstances, the Association had a right to
represent Gaughenbaugh (section 3543.1(a)) and Gaughenbaugh had
the concomtant right to be represented (section 3543).
Penal i zing an enpl oyee for the exercise of such rights evidences
hostility on the part of the District for Gaughenbaugh's
engaging in protected activity.

The final matter at issue here, Brown's negative neno

regardi ng Gaughenbaugh's use of the Center |og, a neans of
comuni cation not unlike a bulletin board, represents yet

anot her exanpl e of harassnent and retaliation. Gaughenbaugh's

entries violated no Center rule or policy. |In fact, none
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existed. The entries wae certainly consistent with the
established practice, testified to by Contreras, that permitted
entries on practically awy subject related to the Center.
Moreover, there was no showing that the language used or message
conveyed demonstrated disloyalty or intemperate attitude toward
the employer. Brom arbitrarily changed the established
practice in mid-streeam to bar specific entries related to
employer-employee relations, describing theam as "too personal
or confidential."

Granted, the marm concerned a seemingly trivial matter.
And, standing alone, it mey well have been harmless. However,
when considered in conjunction with the other menoss ad
reprimands, it represents yet another component in an overall
pattern of harassment ad retaliation.

In addition to the mayts and reprimands issued by Brown,
the record contains other evidence which points to an unlawful
motive. An employee's wak record mey be considered as a factor
in weighing the validity of the District's reasons for the

memos  The Huntington Hospital (1977) 220 NLRB 253 [95 LRRMI

1062]. This series of mars is inconsistent with the treatment
one would expect of an employee with a good wak record, absent

an unlawful motive. Main Community College District, supra,

p. 17.

It is also found that Broan directed Contreras to document
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Gaughenbaugh soon after the grievance was filed.® This
suggests a predeterm ned plan to discover a reason to discipline
Gaughenbaugh. See Wight Line, Inc., supra, 105 LRRM 1169,

1176.

Brown also displayed an open hostility toward Gaughenbaugh
during the grievance procedure. When Gaughenbaugh first
presented the grievance, Brown told himthat "she would never
give [hin] a good evaluation now" This statenment, in essence,

announces an intent to discrimnate against Gaughenbaugh in

2Gaughenbaugh testified he had been told by Contreras
that, shortly after the grievance was filed, Brown directed him
(Contreras) to docunent Gaughenbaugh. The charging party
offered this testinony to show its effect on the recipient.
Counsel for the District did not object to the testinony being
offered for this purpose. He objected only to the testinony
being offered for the truth of the matter stated. It is noted
that Contreras did docunent Gaughenbaugh on the pool i ncident,
thus denonstrating at |east one exanple where Brown's statenent
affected Contreras. Moreover, even if the testinony had been
offered for the truth of the matter stated it is neverthel ess
adm ssible as an adm ssion of a party to the action. Calif.
Evid. Code, sec. 1220; Jefferson, California Evidence Benchbook
(1972), sec. 3.3, p. 59; Santa Clara Unified School District
(9/26/79) PERB Decision N6. I04, pp. Ib-16, tn. 8. Thus, this
testinmony was properly admtted into evidence and nmay be used
to support a finding that Brown told Contreras to docunent
Gaughenbaugh. PERB's rules specifically provide that hearsay
evidence may be sufficient in itself to support a finding if
"it would be adm ssible over objection in civil actions.” Cal.
Adm n. Code, tit. 8, sec. 32176(a). Additionally, both
Contreras and Brown testified at the hearing but did not
contradi ct Gaughenbaugh's testinony on this point. Under these
ci rcunstances, the hearing officer accepts the uncontradicted
testi nony of Gaughenbaugh. Such testinony nmay be accepted to
support a finding where, as here, it is consistent with the
overall pattern of harassnment and retaliation. Martor

Brothers Distributors v. ALRB (1981) Cal . 3d [
Cal . Rptr. ]
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future ternms and conditions of enploynent because he filed a
grievance. This clearly violates the Act, as it cannot hel p but
have a chilling effect on the exercise of future protected
activity.

Further, as counsel for the charging party states in her
brief, the District's approach to the grievance can accurately
be described as "obstructionist.”™ Under the plain neaning of
the relevant contractual clause (see footnote 4, supra) ,
Gaughenbaugh needed only to "attenpt” to resolve the conplaint
with Brown via a conference in order to conply with the

negotiated grievance procedure.? He satisfied this

“lln considering this contractual clause, the hearing

of fi cer recognizes that under section 3541.5(b) PERB is
prohi bited from enforcing negotiated agreenments unless the
facts alleged constitute an independent violation of the EERA
Bal dwi n Park Unified School District, supra, PERB Decision
No. 92. Hearing Oficer Blubaugh stated in the earlier
unappeal ed dism ssal that the procedural dispute surrounding the
processing of the grievance did not constitute an independent
violation of the Act. It was for this reason that the charge
as originally filed was dism ssed. The Board nmay, however,
interpret collective bargaining agreenents to the extent it is
necessary to decide unfair practice charges. NLRB v. C and C
Pl ywood Corp. (1967) 385 U.S. 421 [64 LRRM 2065T; NLRB v.

rong (1 393 U.S. 357 [70 LRRM 2100]. In this case it is
appropriate for the hearing officer to interpret this clause
for the purpose of shedding light on the retaliation allegation
in the anended charge, not for the purpose of enforcing the
agreenent or determning if the District's conduct in processing
the grievance constituted an independent violation of the Act.
The District's conduct in processing the grievance may be
evi dence of an unlawful notive. |In order to determne if
Gaughenbaugh suffered retaliation for filing the grievance, the
hearing officer in this proceeding is obligated to "consider
facts and incidents conpositely and draw inferences reasonably
justified therefrom" See Santa Clara Unified School District
(9/ 26/ 79) PERB Deci si on No. —+64—pp—14—15-
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requirement by neeting twice with Brown on May 9. The fact that
the conplaint was not resolved or that Brown was dissatisfied
with the neetings does not translate into the concl usion that
the contractual requirement was not satisfied. Thus, the
informal |evel of the contractual grievance procedure having
been exhausted, the District's persistent refusal to process

the grievance beyond the informal |evel anobunted to interference
with the operation of the grievance procedure.

There are also other exanples of the District's
obstructioni st approach to the grievance. Gaughenbaugh's
uncontroverted testinony established that when he first asked
Brown to substantiate the eval uation, she responded that it was
"privileged information.”™ This is hardly consistent with her
testinmony that she was anxious to neet with Gaughenbaugh to
resolve the conplaint. And, when Gaughenbaugh initially filed
the formal grievance, Brown did not contend that he had not
conpleted the informal step. Rather, she forced himto refile
it on the wong form It was not until later that she clained
he had not nmet with her informally. Lack of cooperation in
processing a grievance supports an inference of an unl awful

nmotive. Marin Community College District, supra, p. 13;

Caterpillar Tractor Co. v. NLRB, (CA 9 1981) F. 2d [ 106
LRRM 2854] .

Based on the foregoing, it is concluded that the District's

reasons for issuing the reprimands to Gaughenbaugh were without
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merit and were thus pretextual. The District's claimof
justification based on the operational necessity to enforce
reasonable rules, fairly applied, sinply evaporates upon cl ose
scrutiny. The record is replete with evidence which strongly
suggests that an unlawful notive was at work as the noving
force behind the issuance of the reprimands and the rel ated
actions of the enpl oyer.

A portion of the Carlsbad test states:

[A] charge will be sustained where it is
shown that the enployer would not have
engaged in the conpl ained of conduct but for
an unl awful notivation, purpose, or intent.

- - L] - - - - - - L] L] L] - - - * - - - - -

Unl awf ul notivation, purpose or intent is
essentially a state of m nd, a subjective
condition generally known only to the charged
party. Direct and affirmative proof is not

al ways avail able or possible. However,
followi ng generally accepted principles the
presence of such unlawful notivation, purpose
or intent may be established by inference
fromthe record as a whole. Carlsbad Unified
School District, supra, at p. 11.

In addition,

If [the trier of facts] finds that the

stated notive for a [transfer] is false, he
certainly can infer that there is another
notive. More than that, he can infer that
the notive is one that the enployer desires
to conceal - an unlawful notive - at |east
where, as in this case, the surrounding facts
tend to reinforce that inference. Shattick
Denn M ning Corp. v. NLRB (CA 9 196

. 240, p.- 2404].

Under the circunstances presented here, the hearing officer is
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compelled to drav the inference of unlawful motive and conclude
that the District's actions wae taken in retaliation for
Gaughenbaugh filing a grievance.

CONCLUSI ON

The District's retaliation against Kent Gaughenbaugh for
filing a grievance violated section 3543.5(a). Unde these
circumstances, retaliation against an employee for filing a
grievance under a collective bargaining agreement constitutes a

concurrent violation of section 3543.5(b). Santa Monica Unified

School District (12/10/80) FHHB Decision No. 147. Additionally,

retaliation for filing a grievance also constitutes interference
in the day-to-day administration of a collective bargaining
agreement axd is therefore a refusal to negotiate in good faith
in violation of section 3543.5(c).?? It is well settled that
the administration of a contract, including day-to-day
adjustments in the agreement and other working rules, as well

as the resolution of new problems not necessarily covered by the
agreement, is an essential part of the collective bargaining
process and facilitates the ongoing purposes of the EHERA.

Jefferson _School District, supra, FHRB Decision No. 133, pp.

54-55, 115; Morris, the Developing Labor Lawn, Ch. 11, p. 340;

“?Bven if the Association was not involved as
Gaughenbaugh's representative in the grievance or marned as
charging party in this case, finding a section 3543.5(c)
violation is appropriate. South San Francisco Unified School
District (1/15/80) FHRB Decision No. 112.
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Conley v. Gibson (1957) 355 U.S. 41, 46 [41 LRRM 2089]; NLRB V.

Aare Industrial Corp., supra.

There is no evidence to support a conclusion that section
3543.5(d) has been violated. Therefore, that part of the charge
is dismissed.

REMEDY
Under Government Code section 3541.5(c) PERB is given:
. the powa to issue a decision axd order
dlrectlng an offending party to cease ad
desist from the unfair practice anrd to take
such affirmative action, including but not
limited to the reinstatement of employees
with or without back pay, as will effectuate
the policies of this chapter.

Unda the circumstances presented here, it is appropriate to
order the District to cease axd desist from violating section
35455 (a), () ad (¢ by retaliating against employees for
filing grievances under an agreement negotiated by the
Association and the District.

In addition, it is appropriate to order the District to
remove and destroy all manos sent by the District to
Gaughenbaugh and referred to in this opinion from Gaughenbaugh's
official personnel file, as well as from the file kept by Brown.
This remedy is consistent with that imposed by the Boad in

other cases where documentation was unlawfully placed in an

employee's personnel file. See San _Ysidro School District

(6/19/80) HHRB Decision No. 134; San_Diego Unified _School

District (6/19/80) HFHB Decision No. 137; Santa Monica Unified

School District, supra, FHB Decision No. 147.
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It also is appropriate that the District be required to
post a notice incorporating the terms of the order. The notice
should be subscribed by an authorized agent of the District
indicating that it will comply with the terms thereof. The
notice shall not be reduced in size. Posting such a notice will
provide employees with notice that the District has acted in an
unlawful manner and is being required to cease and desist from
this activity and to take the appropriate affirmative steps. It
effectuates the purposes of the HHRA that employees be informed
of the resolution of the controversy and will announce the
District's readiness to comply with the ordered remedy. See

Placerville Union School District (9/18/78) HEHB Decision No.

69. In Pandol and Sons v. ALRB and LW (1979) 98 Cal.App.3d

580, 587, the California District Court of Appea approved a
posting requirement. The U.S. Supreme Court agpproved a similar
posting requirement in NNRB v. Express Publishing Co. (1941)
312 U.S. 426 [8 LHRV 415].

Finally, it is appropriate to dismiss that part of the
charge which alleges a violation of section 3545.5(d).

PROPOSED ORDER

Upon the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law,
and the entire record in the case, and pursuant to section
3541.5 (c), it is hereby ordered that the North Sacramento School

District, its governing board and its representatives shall:

1 CEASE A\D DESST HROM:
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(@ Imposang or threatening to impose reprisals on
Kent Gaughenbaugh for filing a grievance under a collective
bargaining agreement negotiated by the Association and the
District.

(b) Deying the right of North Sacramento Teachers
Association, CTANEA, to represent unit membas by retaliating
against Kent Gaughenbaugh for filing a grievance under a
collective bargaining agreement negotiated by the Association.

(0 Refusng to negotiate in good faith with the
Association, the exclusive representative of certificated
employees in the District, in the day-to-day administration of
.a collective bargaining agreement by retaliating against a
bargaining unit employee for exercising his right to file a
grievance unde the negotiated procedure in that agreement.

2 TAKE THE FOLLOWMING AFHRMATIVE ACTIONS DESGNED
TO BHECTUATE THE POLICIES OF THE ACT.

(& Immediately remove and destroy all memos sent by
District representatives to Kent Gaughenbaugh and referred to
in this decision from Gaughenbaugh's official personnel file,
as well as from the file kept on Gaughenbaugh by Sybil Brown.

(b) Within five (5) workdays after this decision
becomes final, prepare and post copies of the NOTICE TO
BEMALOYEES attached as an appendix hereto, for at least
fourty-five (45 workdays at its headquarters offices ad in

conspicuous places at the location where notices to certificated
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enpl oyees are customarily posted. It nust not be reduced in
size and reasonable steps should be taken to see that it is not
defaced, altered or covered by any materi al .
(¢) Wthin twenty (20) workdays from service of the

final decision herein, give witten notification to the.
Sacranent o Regi onal Director of the Public Enploynent Rel ations
‘Board, of the actions taken to conply with this Order. Continue
to report in witing to the Regional Director thereafter as
directed. All reports to the Regional Director shall be
concurrently served on the charging party herein.

That part of the Association's charge alleging that section
3545.5(d) has been violated is hereby DI SM SSED

Pursuant to California Adm nistrative Code, title 8, part
11, section 32305, this Proposed Decision and Order shal
becone final on Septenber 14, 1981, unless a party files a tinely
statement of exceptions. See California Adm nistrative Code
title 8 wpart 111, section 32300. Such statenment of exceptions
and supporting brief nust be actually received by the executive
assistant to the Board at the headquarters office of the Public
Enpl oynent Rel ations Board in Sacranento before the close of
busi ness (5:00 p.m) on Septenber 14, 1981, in ordef'to be
timely filed. See California Adm nistrative Code, title 8,
part |11, section 32135. Any statenent of exceptions and
supporting brief nmust be served concurrently with its filing

upon each party to this proceeding. Proof of service shall be
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filed with the Boad itself. See California Administrative
Code, title 8, part 111, sections 32300 ad 32305 as amended,

Dated: August 24. 1981

FRED D'ORAZIO
Hearing Officer
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Qiginal Proposed Decision
— Posting Nboti ce
Not attached to final decision. ~

APPENDI X
NOTI CE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
PUBLI C EMPLOYMENT RELATI ONS BOARD
An Agency of the State of California-

After a hearing in Unfair Practice Case No. S-CE-381, in
which all parties had the right to participate, it has been
found that the District violated Governnent Code section
3543.5(a), (b) and (c)..

As a result of this conduct we have been ordered to post
this Notice, and will abide by the followng. W wll:

1. CEASE AND DESI ST FROM

Imposing or threatening to impose reprisals on
Kent Gaughenbaugh for filing a grievance under a collective
bargaining agreement negotiated by the Association and the
District.

(b) Denying the right of North Sacramento Teachers
Association, CTANEA, to represent unit membeas by retaliating
against Kent Gaughenbaugh for filing a grievance under a
collective bargaining agreement negotiated by the Association.

(o Refusng to negotiate in good faith with the
Association, the exclusive representative of certificated
employees in the District, in the day-to-day administration of
a collective bargaining agreement by retaliating against a
bargaining unit employee for exercising his right to file a
grievance under the negotiated procedure in that agreement.

2. TAKE THE FOLLOW NG AFFI RVATI VE ACTI ONS DESI GNED TO
EFFECTUATE THE POLI CI ES OF THE ACT.

(a) Imediately renove and destroy all nenbs sent by
District representatives to Kent Gaughenbaugh and referred to

in this decision from Gaughenbaugh's official personnel file,
as well as fromthe file kept on Gaughenbaugh by Sybil Brown.

Dat ed: NORTH SACRAMENTO SCHOOL DI STRI CT

By

Authorized Agent

THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE. IT MUST REMAIN POSTED FOR AT LEAST
FORTY-FIVE (45) WORKDAYS FROM THE DATE OF POSTING AND MUST NOT
BE REDUCED IN SIZE, DEFACED, ALTERED OR COVERED BY ANY MATERIAL,



